No. 47558-8-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

---

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

**Docie Burch,**

Appellant.

---

Mason County Superior Court Cause No. 14-1-00554-7

The Honorable Judge Amber Finlay

**Appellant's Opening Brief**

Jodi R. Backlund  
Manek R. Mistry  
Attorneys for Appellant

**BACKLUND & MISTRY**  
P.O. Box 6490  
Olympia, WA 98507  
(360) 339-4870  
backlundmistry@gmail.com

**

## **ISSUES AND ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

1. Docie Burch's convictions violated her Fourteenth Amendment right to due process.
2. The court's instructions relieved the state of its burden to prove the essential elements of each offense.
3. The court's instructions failed to make the relevant legal standard manifestly clear to the average juror.
4. The court's "to convict" instructions allowed conviction absent proof of ordinary negligence, an essential element of vehicular assault and vehicular homicide by means of intoxicated driving.
5. The court's instructions as a whole allowed the jury to convict Ms. Burch of vehicular homicide and vehicular assault by means of intoxicated driving without proof of ordinary negligence.
6. The trial court erred by giving Instruction No. 13.
7. The trial court erred by giving Instruction No. 17.

**ISSUE 1:** A "to convict" instruction must include every essential element of an offense. Did the court's "to convict" instructions allow conviction without proof of ordinary negligence, an essential element of vehicular homicide and vehicular assault by means of intoxicated driving?

**ISSUE 2:** Jury instructions in a criminal case violate due process if they relieve the prosecution of its burden to prove the elements of an offense. Must Ms. Burch's convictions be reversed because the court's instructions relieved the state of its burden to prove ordinary negligence?

## **STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PRIOR PROCEEDINGS**

The roads were covered with ice on the morning of December 29, 2014 near the Tahuya River in Mason County. RP 47, 140. A bridge over the river was especially slick, and in one direction there was a curve just after the bridge. RP 45-47, 55-56, 74

A little after 7 that morning, Emily Hillis lost control of her vehicle and went off the road. Her car was stuck in the ditch. She made a report and left the area. RP 64, 74. Officers went to the area, took information, and left. No cones or warning of any kind were put up at the site. RP 36, 50, 64-65, 73, 89.

Then around 8 am, another car going the same direction lost control in the same spot. RP 65, 90, 107, 112, 182. While the gravel truck had gone by in the interim, it was unclear that adequate gravel was put in the locations necessary to maintain traction in the curve. RP 76-86, 186, 228-229, 294-305, 323-332.

Dennis Haase and Neil Erickson had stopped to help, seeing the car off the road from the first accident. RP 34. This second car to lose

control, with both Docie Burch and Darren Conklin in it, hit and killed Haase.<sup>1</sup> Erickson was also hit and hurt. RP 32-35, 106-108.

The state charged Docie Burch with vehicular homicide and vehicular assault, alleging that she drove under the influence. CP 48-49.

The court instructed the jury on the elements of vehicular assault:

1. That on or about the 29<sup>th</sup> day of December, 2014 the defendant drove a vehicle;
2. That the defendant's driving proximately caused substantial bodily harm to another person;
3. That at the time the defendant
  - a. drove the vehicle in a reckless manner; or
  - b. was under the influence of intoxicating liquor or drugs; or
  - c. drove the vehicle with a disregard for the safety of others; and
4. That this act occurred in the State of Washington CP 39-40.

The elements of vehicular homicide were given as follows:

- (1) That on or about the 29<sup>th</sup> day of December, 2014, the defendant drove a motor vehicle;
- (2) That the defendant's driving of the motor vehicle proximately caused injury to another person;
- (3) That at the time of causing the injury, the defendant was driving the motor vehicle
  - (a) while under the influence of intoxicating liquor or drugs; or
  - (b) in a reckless manner; or
  - (c) with disregard for the safety of others;
- (4) That the injured person died within three years as a proximate result of the injuries, and
- (5) That the defendant's act occurred in the State of Washington

---

<sup>1</sup> The state alleged that Ms. Burch was the driver. This was contested at trial. RP 52-53, 67-68, 110, 124-126, 176, 272-277, 287-322, 420, 431-432 .

CP 43.

In instructions 11 and 16, the trial judge defined recklessness:

To operate a motor vehicle in a reckless manner means to drive in a rash or heedless manner, indifferent to consequences.

Disregard for the safety of others means an aggravated kind of negligence or carelessness, falling short of recklessness but constituting a more serious dereliction than ordinary negligence. Ordinary negligence is the failure to exercise ordinary care. Ordinary negligence is the doing of some act which a reasonably careful person would not do under the same or similar circumstances or the failure to do something which a reasonably careful person would have done under the same or similar circumstances. Ordinary negligence in operating a motor vehicle does not render a person guilty of vehicular (assault/homicide). CP 37, 42.

The jury convicted Ms. Burch on both counts. After sentencing, she timely appealed. CP 5-19.

### **ARGUMENT**

**THE COURT’S “TO CONVICT” INSTRUCTIONS RELIEVED THE PROSECUTION OF ITS OBLIGATION TO PROVE ORDINARY NEGLIGENCE, AN ESSENTIAL ELEMENT OF VEHICULAR HOMICIDE AND VEHICULAR ASSAULT COMMITTED BY MEANS OF INTOXICATED DRIVING.**

Vehicular homicide and vehicular assault, when committed by means of driving under the influence, are not strict liability crimes. *State v. Lovelace*, 77 Wn. App. 916, 919, 895 P.2d 10 (1995); *State v. McAllister*, 60 Wn. App. 654, 659, 806 P.2d 772 (1991) *abrogated on other grounds by State v. Roggenkamp*, 153 Wn.2d 614, 106 P.3d 196 (2005). Instead, the prosecution must prove beyond a reasonable doubt

that the intoxicated driver's ordinary negligence injured or killed another person. *Lovelace*, 77 Wn. App. at 919; *McAllister*, 60 Wn. App. at 659.

A "to convict" instruction must contain all the elements of the crime, because it serves as a "yardstick" by which the jury measures the evidence to determine guilt or innocence. *State v. Lorenz*, 152 Wn.2d 22, 31, 93 P.3d 133 (2004). The jury has the right to regard the court's elements instruction as a complete statement of the law. Any conviction based on an incomplete "to convict" instruction must be reversed.<sup>2</sup> *State v. Smith*, 131 Wn.2d 258, 263, 930 P.2d 917 (1997).

Here, the court's "to convict" instructions did not require proof of ordinary negligence to establish the DUI alternative of each offense. CP 39, 43. This omission requires reversal of Ms. Burch's convictions.<sup>3</sup> *Smith*, 131 Wn.2d at 263.

Due process prohibits a trial judge from instructing jurors in a manner that relieves the state of its burden of proof. U.S. Const. Amend. XIV; *State v. Aumick*, 126 Wn.2d 422, 429, 894 P.2d 1325 (1995). Furthermore, jury instructions must make the relevant legal standard

---

<sup>2</sup> This is so even if the missing element is supplied by other instructions. *Id*; *Lorenz*, 152 Wn.2d 22 at 31; *State v. DeRyke*, 149 Wn.2d 906, 910, 73 P.3d 1000 (2003).

<sup>3</sup> The improper instructions created manifest error affecting Ms. Burch's right to due process. The issue can be addressed for the first time on review. RAP 2.5(a)(3). Furthermore, the court should review the error even if it does not qualify under RAP 2.5(a)(3). *State v. Russell*, 171 Wn.2d 118, 122, 249 P.3d 604 (2011).



manifestly apparent to the average juror. *State v. Kyllo*, 166 Wn.2d 856, 864, 215 P.3d 177 (2009). If a jury can construe a court’s instructions to allow conviction without proof of an element, any resulting conviction violates due process. *State v. Stein*, 144 Wn.2d 236, 241, 27 P.3d 184 (2001).

The court defined the phrase “ordinary negligence” to distinguish it from recklessness and disregard for the safety of others. CP 37, 42. However, instead of clarifying that ordinary negligence is required for conviction under the DUI means, the court specifically told jurors “[o]rdinary negligence in operating a motor vehicle does not render a person guilty of vehicular assault/homicide.” CP 37, 42.

This misstatement was not corrected elsewhere in the court’s instructions. CP 24 – 47. Far from making the relevant standard manifestly clear, the instructions relieved the state of its burden to prove ordinary negligence as part of the DUI means of committing each offense.

Constitutional error is presumed prejudicial, and the state must show harmlessness beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Franklin*, 180 Wn.2d 371, 382, 325 P.3d 159 (2014). The prosecution cannot show harmlessness in this case.

The jury acquitted Ms. Burch under the reckless means and could not agree that she’d driven with disregard for the safety of others. CP 20,

21. Furthermore, accidents occurred frequently at the location where Ms. Burch lost control of her truck, and another driver's vehicle had left the road that very morning. RP 47, 55-56.

Conviction under the DUI prong turned on whether or not Ms. Burch drove with adequate care. The evidence on this point was conflicting. Accordingly, the state cannot show harmlessness beyond a reasonable doubt. *Id.*