No. 47558-8-II

**COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II
STATE OF WASHINGTON**

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

V.

DOCIE E. BURCH, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Mason County
The Honorable Toni. A. Sheldon, Judge

No. 14-1-00554-7

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MICHAEL DORCY
Mason County Prosecuting Attorney

By
TIM HIGGS
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
WSBA #25919

521 N. Fourth Street
PO Box 639
Shelton, WA 98584
PH: (360) 427-9670 ext. 417

B. FACTS AND STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 29, 2014, Emily Hillis drove her Jeep Cherokee across a bridge in Mason County, hit a patch of ice, and slid off the road about 20 feet and then landed in a ditch, where the Jeep came to rest turned over onto its side. RP 40, 55, 63-64, 73. A deputy sheriff, Deputy Liles, responded to the scene of the accident and began an accident report. While investigating at the accident scene, a sand truck came along and sanded the road. RP 63.

Ms. Hillis lived nearby, about two miles down the road. Her insurance information was at her home, so Deputy Liles allowed Ms. Hillis to accept a ride from a friend and return home. RP 64. The deputy

State's Response Brief
Case No. 47558-8-II

Mason County Prosecutor
PO Box 639
Shelton, WA 98584
360-427-9670 ext. 417

then drove to Ms. Hillis's home, about two to four minutes away, to obtain the insurance information. RP 64, 72

After Deputy Liles left the accident scene to go to Ms. Hillis's home, two men, Neil Erickson and Dennis Haase, stopped to check on the overturned Jeep. RP 33-36. While the men were at the accident scene, a small Nissan truck driven by the defendant, Docie Burch, then came across the bridge, slid on the ice (or sand), and crashed into the two men. RP 68, 105, 106-07, 110. Neil Erickson suffered severe injuries, which included a broken leg, broken vertebrae, three broken ribs, three broken bones in his shoulder, a broken jaw, a broken eye socket, and a nearly severed ear. RP 35, 66. The other man, Dennis Haase, was died as a result of the accident. RP 31, 33, 66, 220-25.

While Deputy Liles was at Ms. Hillis's house, he received a call from his dispatcher reporting a second accident, this one with serious injuries, at the scene of the first accident. RP 63-65, 67, 72. Deputy Liles responded back to the scene with lights and siren and, despite the earlier report of ice, had no trouble maintaining his lane and had no problem with traction or sliding. RP 67.

While investigating the second accident, officers learned that Burch smelled strongly of alcohol. RP 145, 190, 232. Her behavior was

State's Response Brief
Case No. 47558-8-II

Mason County Prosecutor
PO Box 639
Shelton, WA 98584
360-427-9670 ext. 417

strange, and initially they thought it was because of the trauma of the accident, but eventually it became apparent that she was probably under the influence. RP 232. A deputy obtained a search warrant for a sample of Burch's blood to test for intoxicants. RP 194. Despite the search warrant, Burch refused to provide a blood sample. RP 194, 206. Instead, she tried to run away. RP 206. She fought back against deputies and medical personnel who tried to obtain a blood sample from her. RP 195-96, 206-07. Eventually, they were able to restrain her and obtain a blood sample. RP 195-96, 206-07. Subsequent testing of the blood revealed that her blood alcohol content was between .11 and .14 within two hours of driving and that she also had a small amount of methamphetamine in her blood. RP 247, 248, 255.

At trial, the jury received evidence that alcohol impairs a person's motor control, balance and coordination, and that it slows down thought processes, slows the function of the central nervous system, and slows reaction time. RP 251-52, 335. A toxicologist testified that alcohol also impairs divided attention skills, such as the ability to divide attention as needed for safe driving. RP 252. When a driver hits ice and first starts to slide, if the driver reacts correctly the driver can steer out of the slide if the driver has good reaction time. RP 170-71.

State's Response Brief
Case No. 47558-8-II

Mason County Prosecutor
PO Box 639
Shelton, WA 98584
360-427-9670 ext. 417

Before the trial began and again at the end of trial, the court went over jury instructions with the parties. RP 26, 346-402. Burch's attorney informed the trial court as follows: "Your Honor, I've reviewed the jury instructions and I don't think I'll be proposing any because the State proposed the necessary ones." RP 26. Before reading instructions to the jury, the court and the parties went over each instruction one at a time, and the defense had no objection or exception to any instruction given, including having no objection to the vehicular homicide or vehicular assault instructions as given. RP 346-47, 349-51, 383-93, 395-98, 400-02.

After receiving the evidence, the jury returned guilty verdicts for one count of vehicular assault and one count of vehicular homicide. For each guilty verdict the jury answered a special interrogatory finding that both counts were committed while Burch was under the influence. RP 452-53; CP 20-23. The jury answered the special interrogatories no as to driving in a reckless manner, and the jury was unable to answer whether Burch drove with disregard for the safety of others. RP 452-53; CP 20-21.

C. ARGUMENT

Burch's sole argument on appeal is that the crimes of vehicular homicide and vehicular assault committed by means of intoxicated driving include an element of ordinary negligence and that the trial court, therefore, erred by not including

State's Response Brief
Case No. 47558-8-II

Mason County Prosecutor
PO Box 639
Shelton, WA 98584
360-427-9670 ext. 417

ordinary negligence as an element in the corresponding “to convict” jury instructions. In response, the State contends that after legislative amendments to relevant the statues and after our Supreme Court’s decision in *State v. Rivas*, 126 Wn.2d 443, 896 P.2d 57 (1995), negligence is not an element of vehicular homicide or vehicular assault committed by means of driving under the influence.

Burch cites two cases, *State v. Lovelace*, 77 Wn. App. 916, 895 P.2d 10 (1995) and *State v. McAllister*, 60 Wn. App. 654, 806 P.2d 772 (1991), to support her contention that ordinary negligence is an element of vehicular homicide and vehicular assault when committed by means of driving under the influence. Br. of Appellant at 3.

The *McAllister* opinion was published on March 12, 1991, and involved an offense that occurred on September 16, 1986. *McAllister* at 655. In this context, the *McAllister* Court wrote that to sustain a conviction for vehicular homicide committed by driving under the influence, the State had to prove “a combination of ordinary negligence and intoxication while driving.” *Id.* at 658-59 (citation and footnote omitted).

A latter case, when considering an offense of vehicular assault that occurred on March 2, 1991, rejected the defendant-appellant’s claim that the to-convict jury instruction was defective because it did not include ordinary negligence as an element of vehicular assault committed by

State’s Response Brief
Case No. 47558-8-II

Mason County Prosecutor
PO Box 639
Shelton, WA 98584
360-427-9670 ext. 417

means of driving under the influence. *State v. Hursh*, 77 Wn. App. 242, 243, 245, 890 P.2d 1066 (1995) (abrogated on other grounds by *State v. Roggenkamp*, 153 Wn.2d 614, 106 P.3d 196 (2005)). The *Hursh* Court held as follows: “We hold that RCW 46.61.522 cannot be construed to require a showing of negligent conduct as an element of vehicular assault. To attempt such a construction would be to read into the statute an element which is not there.” *Hursh* at 246-47.

Effective July 1, 1991, the Legislature amended the vehicular homicide statute, RCW 46.61.520. By doing so, the Legislature did state... as clearly as possible, that the only causal connection which the State is required to prove is the connection between the act of driving and the accident.” *State v Rivas*, 126 Wn.2d 443, 451, 896 P.2d 57 (1995). The vehicular assault statute, RCW 46.61.522, was similarly amended in 2001, and reference to proximate cause connected to the means of driving under the influence was removed from the statutory language.

Subsequent to the July 1, 1991, amendment to the vehicular homicide statute, but prior to the 2001 amendment to the vehicular assault statute and prior to the Supreme Court case of *State v Rivas*, 126 Wn.2d 443, 451, 896 P.2d 57 (1995), the Court of Appeals decided the case of

State’s Response Brief
Case No. 47558-8-II

Mason County Prosecutor
PO Box 639
Shelton, WA 98584
360-427-9670 ext. 417

State v. Lovelace, 77 Wn. App. 916, 895 P.2d 10 (1995), the second of two supporting cases cited by Burch.

Lovelace involved a charge of vehicular assault stemming from driving under the influence that occurred on May 25, 1992. *Id.* at 917, 919. Writing prior to the 2001 amendments to RCW 46.61.522 and prior to the Supreme Court's decision in *State v. Rivas*, 126 Wn.2d 443, 451, 896 P.2d 57 (1995), the *Lovelace* Court wrote that "[t]o prove proximate cause in a vehicular assault case, the State must prove ordinary negligence and intoxication while driving." *Lovelace* at 919, citing *State v. McAllister*, 60 Wn. App. 654, 806 P.2d 772 (1991). The *Lovelace* Court declared: "Vehicular assault is not a strict liability crime." *Lovelace* at 919, citing *State v. MacMaster*, 113 Wn.2d 226, 231, 778 P.2d 1037 (1989) and *State v. McAllister*, 60 Wn. App. 654, 658-60, 806 P.2d 772 (1991).

Despite these rulings, however, the *Lovelace* Court upheld Lovelace's conviction, reasoning that his level of intoxication strongly inferred "that his negligence caused him to leave his lane." *Lovelace* at 920. Affirming the conviction, the *Lovelace* Court concluded "that Lovelace's intoxication was the proximate cause of the accident." *Id.* at 920. Thus, with the conviction affirmed, and with the *Lovelace* Court

State's Response Brief
Case No. 47558-8-II

Mason County Prosecutor
PO Box 639
Shelton, WA 98584
360-427-9670 ext. 417

writing prior to the Supreme Court's decision in *State v Rivas*, 126 Wn.2d 443, 451, 896 P.2d 57 (1995) and prior to the 2001 amendments to RCW 46.61.522, the State had no incentive to appeal.

On June 1, 1995, the Supreme Court published *State v Rivas*, 126 Wn.2d 443, 451, 896 P.2d 57 (1995), which considered whether the vehicular homicide by intoxication statute, RCW 46.61.520, requires a causal connection between intoxication and death. The offense at issue in *Rivas* occurred on August 28, 1992. *Id.* at 444. The Supreme Court held in *Rivas* that "causation between intoxication and death is not an element of vehicular homicide." *Id.* at 444.

The *Rivas* Court's decision is instructive, because it traces the evolution of vehicular homicide cases and the evolving elements from enactment of the Washington Motor Vehicle Act in 1937 to the 1991 amendment to RCW 46.61.520. *Id.* at 446-53. It was when speaking of the 1991 amendments that the *Rivas* Court declared that: "The Legislature did state, however, as clearly as possible, that the only causal connection which the State is required to prove is the connection between the act of driving and the accident." *Rivas* at 451.

Addressing the seemingly contrary authority of *State v. MacMaster*, 113 Wn.2d 226, 231, 778 P.2d 1037 (1989) (which

State's Response Brief
Case No. 47558-8-II

Mason County Prosecutor
PO Box 639
Shelton, WA 98584
360-427-9670 ext. 417

incidentally was cited by the Court of Appeals in its earlier decision in *State v. Lovelace*, 77 Wn. App. 916, 895 P.2d 10 (1995), which is relied on by Burch), the Supreme Court in *Rivas* declared that “[t]he language of the amendment indicates that the Legislature did not intend that a causal connection such as that described in *MacMaster* be incorporated into the 1991 amendment.” *Rivas* at 451. *Rivas* explained that “[t]he *MacMaster* causal element was added by the court because of its concern with the strict liability results of a literal reading of that statute.” *Rivas* at 452. On this point, *Rivas* then concluded that “even if RCW 46.61.520, as amended in 1991, sets forth a strict liability crime, no authority has been cited indicating that strict liability is impermissible.” *Rivas* at 453.

Rivas reached a result that differs substantially from the pre-1991 amendment case of *State v. McAllister*, 60 Wn. App. 654, 806 P.2d 772 (1991), but *Rivas* does not overrule *McAllister*. *Rivas* at 453. Instead, *Rivas* cites *McAllister* as authority for the proposition that “[b]efore criminal liability is imposed, the conduct of the defendant must be both (1) the actual cause, and (2) the ‘legal’ or ‘proximate’ cause of the result.” *Rivas* at 453. The *Rivas* Court explained that under the statute, “an intoxicated defendant may still avoid responsibility for a death which

results from his or her driving if the death is caused by a superseding, intervening event.” *Id.*

An act or event is an intervening cause only if it occurs later in time. *State v. Souther*, 100 Wn. App. 701, 998 P.2d 350 (2000). In the instant case, there is evidence that there was ice on the road before Burch approached the icy spot and crashed her car into two victims, killing one and severely injuring the other, but because the icy road condition is at most a concurrent cause of the accident and resulting death and injury, it is irrelevant for purposes of vehicular assault and vehicular homicide. *State v. Roggenkamp*, 153 Wn.2d 614, 106 P.3d 196 (2005); *State v. Hursh*, 77 Wn. App. 242, 890 P.2d 1066 (1995).

In conclusion, the State contends that the 2001 amendments to RCW 46.61.522 result in language that, for purposes of whether ordinary negligence is an element of the offenses described, is substantively equal to RCW 46.61.520. The State contends, therefore, that *State v Rivas*, 126 Wn.2d 443, 896 P.2d 57 (1995), controls the result in the instant case and that ordinary negligence is not an element of either vehicular homicide or vehicular assault when either is committed by the means of driving under the influence.

State’s Response Brief
Case No. 47558-8-II

Mason County Prosecutor
PO Box 639
Shelton, WA 98584
360-427-9670 ext. 417